
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of The Ince Group plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ’group’) for the year ended  
31 March 2020 which comprise the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position, consolidated statement 
of cash flows, consolidated statement of changes in equity, statement of changes in equity and notes to the financial statements, including  
a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

 – give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent company’s affairs as at 31 March and the group’s profit for the period 
then ended;

 – have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and
 – have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to SME listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

 – the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
 – the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the 
group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Emphasis of matter in respect of COVID-19 impact on going concern
We draw attention to note 2 in the financial statements, which describes the directors’ assessment of going concern in light of the impact  
of adverse changes resulting from COVID-19. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements  
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, 
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts  
of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statement as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 

In addition to the matter described in the material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have determined the matters described 
below to be key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members
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Key audit matter
Risk of material misstatement arising from revenue recognition
Revenue is the most significant item in the accounts and is made up of a large 
volume of matters earned across different geographical locations. It therefore 
presents an increased risk of material misstatement. 

Given the volume, there is a risk that not all matters have been recorded in the 
financial statements. In addition, unbilled matters are recognised as accrued income 
which is valued at a percentage of its billable time. There is a risk that this could 
either not be recoverable or that it is valued inappropriately. 

Given its significance in the financial statements and the judgements involved  
in its recognition, we have therefore considered this to be a key audit matter.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
We have:

Reviewed and tested systems and controls to identify 
any material weaknesses;

Performed substantive testing across all revenue lines  
to obtain evidence of the completeness of revenue;

Reviewed movements across the group to understand 
reasons for changes;

Performed substantive testing on accrued income  
to obtain evidence that it represents genuine time and  
is appropriately valued;

Reconciled the total value of time posted in the  
main trading subsidiary to revenue recognised in the 
financial statements.

Based on our procedures performed we concluded that 
revenue is not materially misstated.

Risk of material misstatement arising from business combinations
The acquisition of the Ince business is a major feature of the consolidated financial 
statements comprising two transactions. 

On 31 December 2018, the group acquired the members’ interests in Ince & Co 
LLP and then the files and matters of that firm and its service company Ince & Co 
Services Limited from those entities’ administrators. This was originally recognised 
in the year ended 31 March 2019 financial statements but management have 
reassessed the provisional values initially recognised. This has resulted in an overall 
increase to goodwill of £21.245 million. 

On 1 April 2019 the group entered into a Network Agreement with the overseas 
entities that were previously part of Ince & Co International LLP which gave the 
group control over those entities for the purposes of IFRS 10. Consideration for 
this was £6.946 million and resulting goodwill was £3.710 million.

Various aspects of the transaction were material for the purpose of our audit, 
however our key audit matter focuses on the following areas in light of the 
significant level of judgement involved:

Revision of combination on 31 December 2018:

 – Revision of the provisions values recognised from the first business combination 
during the measurement period as permitted under IFRS 3 Business Combinations.

Combination on 1 April 2019

 – Valuation of the assets acquired by the group;
 – Completeness of the liabilities associated with the acquisition;
 – Accounting treatment of the consideration payable, including consideration 
payable and its valuation. 

Given the complexity of the arrangements and the significant level of judgement 
involved, we identified this to be a key audit matter.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
We have:

Reviewed the accounting treatment of business 
combinations and for each acquisition in the year, 
verifying the accounting back to the acquisition 
documents, assessing the recognition and measurement 
of consideration, assets and liabilities in light of IFRS 3 
Business Combinations. In particular, we have sought 
evidence that the revisions to the combination on  
31 December 2018 were based on information 
available during the measurement period;

Sought evidence to confirm management’s assessment 
that control or significant influence had been obtained  
on the acquisition date;

Reviewed the consideration calculations and assessed 
whether the discount rates applied are appropriate;

Performed substantive testing on the assets and  
liabilities recognised on acquisition to obtain evidence  
of their valuation;

Checked that disclosures agree to the supporting 
workings, and are in accordance with IFRS 3  
Business Combinations.

Based on our procedures performed we concluded that 
business combinations have been accounted for 
appropriately and are not materially misstated. 
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Key audit matter
Risk of material misstatement arising from goodwill impairment
The group has goodwill totalling £55.0m (2019: £51.0m) across six cash generating 
units (CGUs) at 31 March 2020. The largest balance relates to the Ince CGU  
at £26.3m. Please refer to note 15 (Intangible assets) to the consolidated  
financial statements.

Under IFRS, goodwill is subjected to an annual impairment review. There is a risk 
that material overstatement of goodwill could arise should any of the acquisitions 
suffer from poor performance and no impairment is consequently recognised.

The group’s assessment of impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment  
of Assets is a judgemental process which requires estimating future cash flows 
based on management’s view of future business prospects. Our key audit  
matter focuses on reasonableness of the assumptions made by management,  
the robustness of forecasting procedures undertaken for the purposes of the 
goodwill impairment review and adequacy of disclosure.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
We have:

Reviewed the financial statements of the CGUs for any 
indicators of impairment of goodwill;

Examined management’s goodwill impairment reviews.  
In particular, we have considered whether CGUs were 
identified in accordance with IAS 36 and whether key 
assumptions, including growth and discount rates,  
were reasonable and could be supported by data;

Performed sensitivity analysis to assess the risk  
of material misstatement arising from any potential 
changes in the underlying assumptions.

Based on our procedures performed we are satisfied 
that the assumptions made by management are 
reasonable. We have not identified any material 
misstatement arising from the insufficient recognition 
of impairment of the group’s goodwill.

Risk of material misstatement arising from an inappropriate approach to 
assessing going concern
The group has made significant debt financed acquisitions in recent years.  
This creates a risk of over trading and means that the group now has  
to service debt and meet its covenants. 

In addition, the recent COVID-19 pandemic, which has affected all locations  
in which the Group operate, could cause cash flow issues arising from either  
a reduction of certain revenue lines or customers requesting delayed payment. 

Our key audit matter focuses on the following areas in light of the significant level 
of judgement involved:

 – Review of the cashflow forecasts and the assumptions underpinning them;

Given the significant level of judgement involved, we identified this key  
audit matter.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
We have:

Examined the forecasts and the assumptions 
underpinning the forecasts from management and 
assessed them in light of actual post year end results;

Reviewed the disclosures in the accounts and  
confirmed that they appear to be sufficient and  
properly presented;

Performed sensitivity analysis on the forecasts  
to review the headroom available.

Based on our procedures we are satisfied that the 
assumptions underpinning the forecasts are reasonable. 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members/Continued
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Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing our audit, in evaluating the effect of any identified misstatements and  
in forming our opinion. Our overall objective as auditor is to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements as a whole are free  
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. We consider a misstatement to be material where it could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements.

We have determined a materiality of £567,000. This is based on a blend of 2% of turnover and 5% of profit attributable to the equity holders 
for the year ended 31 March 2020.

An overview of the scope of our audit
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements  
as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the parent company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry  
in which they operate.

The group consists of two components, the UK and the overseas entities. All UK registered entities are provided with an audit opinion by 
Saffery Champness LLP. Testing was performed on all overseas components to a component materiality with the exception of Ince Monaco, 
Ramparts Corporate Services Limited and Ramparts Corporate Advisors Limited which were subjected to specific audit procedures on material 
account balances. Work carried out at overseas components included detailed audit procedures carried out locally by component auditors 
based upon our group auditor instructions to those components.

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements.  
In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that 
involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. We also addressed the risk of management override 
of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report,  
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears  
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the  
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

 – the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the financial statements; and

 – the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if,  
in our opinion:

 – adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

 – the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
 – certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
 – we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 28, the directors are responsible for the preparation  
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine  
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue  
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,  
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.  
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

MICH A EL S TRONG (SENIOR S TAT U TORY AUDITOR )

for and on behalf of Saffery Champness LLP

Chartered Accountants  
Statutory Auditors

71 Queen Victoria Street  
London  
EC4V 4BE  
31 July 2020

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members/Continued
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Note 

Year ended
31-Mar-20

£’000 

Year ended
31-Mar-19

£’000 

Continuing operations 

Fees and commissions 5  98,478 52,576 

Staff costs 6 (45,153) (18,296)

Depreciation and amortisation (8,279) (1,665)

Other operating expenses (19,182) (17,406)

Other operating income  354 38 

Operating profit 7  26,218 15,247 

Finance income 8 352 218 

Finance expense 8 (1,571) (251)

Non-recurring costs 9 (1,657) (14,267)

Share of (loss)/profit of associates  (140) 19 

Profit before income tax  23,202 966 

Income tax expense 10  (1,543) (206)

Profit from continuing operations  21,659 760 

Profit from discontinued operations 137 –

Profit for the period 21,796 760

Attributable to:- 

Equity holders of the Company 4,952 (8,552)

Non-controlling interests   16,844 9,312 

Profit for the period   21,796 760 

Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share (pence) 11 11.78  (28.66)

Adjusted basic earnings per share (pence) 11 15.39  19.15 

Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share (pence) 11 11.42  (28.10)

Adjusted diluted earnings per share (pence) 11  14.92  18.77 

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Translation of foreign operations 35 –

Other comprehensive income for the period 35 –

Total comprehensive income for the period 21,831 760

As disclosed in note 11 adjusted profit before tax for the year is £8,015,000 (2019: £5,921,000).

There is no tax on any component of other comprehensive income or expense. 

The attached notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
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The Ince Group plc (Registered number: 03744673)

Note 

Group 
31-Mar-20

£’000 

Restated
Group 

31-Mar-19
£’000 

Company 
31-Mar-20

£’000 

Company 
31-Mar-19

£’000 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 13 3,761 1,182 90 – 

Right-of-use assets 14 17,441 – 696 – 

Intangible assets 15 80,825 74,443 – – 

Investments 16 470 379 47,607 47,191

102,497 76,004 48,393 47,191 

Current assets 

Trade and other receivables 17 44,412 31,960 38,886 30,223 

Corporation tax – – – 168

Cash and cash equivalents 18 5,250 4,759 3 987 

49,662 36,719 38,889 31,378 

Total assets 152,159 112,723 87,282 78,569 

EQUITY 

Capital and reserves attributable to the Company’s equity holders 

Share capital 19 686 370 686 370 

Share premium 20 24,126 11,192 24,126 11,192 

Reverse acquisition reserve 20 (24,724) (24,724) – – 

Foreign exchange translation reserve 20 35 – – –

Other reserves 20 634 48 3,460 2,874 

Distributable reserves 20 41,527 38,787 18,894 30,543 

42,284 25,673 47,166 44,979 

Non-controlling interest 9,064 5,807 – – 

Total equity 51,348 31,480 47,166 44,979 

LIABILITIES 

Non-current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 21 22,453 35,431 – – 

Borrowings 22 10,400 5,240 10,400 5,100 

Provisions 23 2,189 2,050 – – 

Lease liabilities 14 13,284  – 370  –

48,326 42,721 10,770 5,100 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 21 39,325 27,822 27,756 27,590 

Corporation tax 1,372 245 – – 

Borrowings 22 3,829 2,370 1,200 900 

Provisions 23 2,407 8,085 – – 

Lease liabilities 14 5,552 – 390 – 

 52,485 38,522 29,346 28,490 

Total liabilities  100,811 81,243  40,116 33,590

Total equity and liabilities 152,159 112,723 87,282 78,569

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained in S408 Companies Act 2006 and has not presented a separate income 
statement for the Company. The Company recorded a loss of £9,437,000 for the 12 month period ending 31 March 2020.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and were signed on its behalf on 31 July 2020  
by S. Oakes – Director.

The attached notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Statements of Financial Position 
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Group 
12 months to 

31-Mar-20
£’000 

Group 
12 months to 

31-Mar-19
£’000 

Company 
12 months to 

31-Mar-20
£’000 

Company 
12 months to 

31-Mar-19
£’000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Profit before tax from continuing operations 23,202 966 (9,269) (886)

Profit before tax from discontinued operations 137 – – –

Adjustments for: 

Finance income (352) (218) – –

Finance expense 1,571 251 – 50 

Non-recurring costs 1,657 14,267 391 – 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 8,279 1,665 294 48 

Share options expense 172 – 172 –

Gain on sale of discontinued operations (51) – – –

Share of loss of associates 140 (19) – – 

Net exchange differences (323) – – –

Changes in operating assets and liabilities (net of acquisitions): 

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables (9,616) (15,589) (731) (63)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (1,787) (1,388) 292 99 

(Decrease)/increase in provisions  (6,380) 6,571 – – 

Cash generated by operations 16,649 6,506 (8,851) (752)

Interest and other financial costs paid (1,054) (92) (370) (50)

Tax paid (896) (554) – – 

Net cash generated by operating activities 14,699 5,860 (9,221) (802)

Cash flows from investing activities 

Cash paid on acquisitions (net of cash acquired) 2,078 (6,388) – – 

Payment of contingent and deferred consideration (10,126) (4,762) – – 

Payment of acquisition related costs (1,657) (7,525) – – 

Purchase of PPE (1,436) – (116) – 

Proceeds from disposal of PPE 2 – – – 

Purchase of intangible assets (1,627) (795) – – 

Disposal of subsidiary, net of cash disposed of (191) – – – 

Interest received 352 218 – – 

Net cash absorbed by investing activities (12,605) (19,252) (116) –

Cash flows from financing activities 

Movement in borrowings (including finance leases) 6,133 6,969 5,600 6,000 

(Advances to)/repayments by subsidiaries – – (8,073) (14,157)

Proceeds from issues of shares 14,046 11,504 14,048 11,504 

Transaction costs relating to issue of shares (800) (460) (800) (460)

Dividends paid (2,197) (1,150) (2,197) (1,150)

Transactions with non-controlling interests (15,513) (7,699) – – 

Direct cost of leases (24) – (17) –

Payment of lease liability (3,268) – (208) –

Net cash absorbed from financing activities (1,623) 9,164 8,353 1,737 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 471 (4,228) (984) 935 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4,720 8,948 987 52 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash – – – –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 5,191 4,720 3 987 

The attached notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
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Share 
capital 
£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000

Reverse 
acquisition 

reserve 
£’000

Foreign
exchange

translation
reserve

£’000

Other 
reserves 

£’000

Distributable 
reserves 

£’000

Non- 
controlling 

interest 
£’000

Total 
equity 
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2018 288 230 (24,724) – – 48,489 4,512 28,795 

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive  

income/(expense) for the period – – – – – (8,552) 9,313 761 

Dividend paid – – – – – (1,150) – (1,150)

Shares issued in period 82 11,422 – – – – – 11,504 

Share options acquired – – – – 48 – – 48 

Share issue transaction costs – (460) – – – – – (460)

Transferred to members – – – – – – (8,018) (8,018)

Balance at 31 March 2019 370 11,192 (24,724) – 48 38,787 5,807 31,480 

Balance at 1 April 2019 370 11,192 (24,724) – 48 38,787 5,807 31,480 

Profit for the period – – – – – 4,952 16,844 21,796 

Other comprehensive income – – – 35 – – – 35

Dividend paid – – – – – (2,212) – (2,212) 

Shares issued in period 316 13,734 – – 414 – – 14,464

Share options acquired – – – – 172 – – 172 

Share issue transaction costs – (800) – – – – – (800)

Transferred to members – – – – – – (13,587) (13,587) 

Balance at 31 March 2020 686 24,126 (24,724) 35 634 41,527 9,064 51,348 

As both the capital redemption reserve and retained earnings are by nature distributable these items have been presented on a combined basis 
in the above.

The attached notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
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Share 
capital 
£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000

Other 
reserves 

£’000

Distributable 
reserves 

£’000

Total 
equity 
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2018 288 230 2,826 32,411 35,755 

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive  

income/(expense) for the period – – – (718) (718)

Dividend paid – – – (1,150) (1,150)

Shares issued in period 82 11,422 – 11,504 

Share options acquired – – 48 – 48 

Share issue transaction costs (460) – – (460)

Balance at 31 March 2019 370 11,192 2,874 30,543 44,979 

Balance at 1 April 2019 370 11,192 2,874 30,543 44,979 

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive  

income/(expense) for the period – – – (9,437) (9,437) 

Dividend paid – – (2,212) (2,212) 

Shares issued in period 316 13,734 414 – 14,464

Share options acquired – – 172 – 172

Share issue transaction costs – (800) – – (800) 

Balance at 31 March 2020 686 24,126 3,460 18,894 47,166 

The attached notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The Ince Group plc (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together “The Ince Group” or “the Group”) provide legal & professional services and 
independent financial advisory services to businesses and high net worth individuals.

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The address of its registered office is Aldgate Tower,  
2 Leman Street, London E1 8QN.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2020.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements of The Ince Group plc are for the 12 month period to 31 March 2020. The financial statements  
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable  
to companies reporting under IFRS.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. In deciding this, the Directors have considered the detailed budgets 
for the current financial year and high level budgets for the succeeding year including in both cases cash flows. 

They have also considered the impact of adverse changes resulting from the major risks and uncertainties they consider apply to the Group.  
At the date of this report, the Group is taking the COVID-19 threat to its clients, vendors, staff and overall business very seriously. The Group 
is taking proactive action and has activated business continuity plans, where required across the jurisdictions in which the Group operates,  
to minimise the risk of disruption to business operations. In doing this, the Group has taken account of government advice in the jurisdictions 
in which it operates and the need to safeguard the health of our clients. At this stage, the impact on our business and results is limited. We will 
continue to follow the various locations’ national policies and advice and in parallel will do our upmost to continue our operations in the best 
and safest way possible without jeopardising anyone’s health.

As a result of COVID-19, the Directors revised the original forecasts for the financial year ending 31 March 2021 to sensitise for the potential 
impact on profitability and cash flow over the next 12 months. This revised forecast indicates the Group has sufficient cash to trade for at least 
the next 12 months and will meet its covenant requirements under its external debt facilities in this period.

Consequently, the Board of Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue  
in operational existence for the next 12 months. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with those IFRS standards and IFRIC interpretations issued and effective or issued 
and early adopted as at the time of preparing these statements. The policies set out below have been consistently applied to all the periods 
presented.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree  
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed  
in note 4. 

The Group has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) that are relevant to its operations and are currently effective. A number of new or amended standards became applicable for the 
current reporting period, and the Group had to change its accounting policies and make retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting  
IFRS 16 Leases. The impact of the adoption of the leasing standard and the new accounting policies are disclosed in note 34. The other 
standards did not have any impact on the Group’s accounting policies and did not require retrospective adjustments.

2.2 EU adopted IFRS not yet applied 
The Group has not adopted any standards or interpretations in advance of the required implementation dates. 

2.3 Consolidation 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns  
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements  
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences to the date that control ceases. 
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The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured 
as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition are expensed in the period. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in  
a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling 
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets and contingent liabilities 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference 
is recognised directly in the income statement. Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between  
Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The Company’s accounting period date 31 March is in line with its subsidiaries, except in the instance of the subsidiary Herring Parry Khan Law 
Office (Ince & Co Greece). This entity’s results as at 31 December are consolidated, as it is considered impractical to consolidate the results  
at 31 March. The impact of this is not considered material and any transactions in this entity, which are considered to be material and have 
occurred in the period between January and March, are included in the consolidated accounts.

2.4 Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are included at cost less provision for impairment in value.

2.5 Investments in associates
Associates are those entities over which the Group has significant influence, but neither control nor joint control over the financial and 
operating policies. Associates are accounted for using the equity method and are initially recognised at cost. The financial statements include 
the Group’s share of total comprehensive income and equity movements of associates from the date when significant influence commences  
to the date the significant influence ceases.

2.6 Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns  
that are different from those of other business segments. The Group’s two business segments are described in the Strategic Report, being legal 
& professional services and independent financial advisory services. No segment reporting disclosures are required for these due to the fact 
that the smaller segment, financial services advisory, falls beneath the quantitative thresholds set out by IFRS 8 paragraph 13.

The Group provides a segmental analysis to enhance the understanding of the financial statements.

2.7 Business combinations
The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations in accordance with IFRS 3 (R),  
‘Business Combinations’. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,  
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in  
a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration transferred over the 
fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. All transaction related costs are expensed in the 
period they are incurred. If the consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference  
is recognised in the income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair 
value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability are recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 in the income 
statement.

2.8 Intangible assets
Intangible assets include the cost of acquiring client portfolios and the Ince brand. 

Client portfolios are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation losses and impairment losses. Amortisation of the cost is being provided for 
in line with the fees billed and cash collections being generated by the client portfolio acquired. 

The Ince brand is carried based on an independent external valuation which applied a discounted cash flow model under the relief from royalty 
method. The brand has existed for 150 years and it has been confirmed as part of the independent valuation that it has an indefinite useful 
economic life. 
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Intangible assets also include internally generated software and intellectual property, which are held at cost less subsequent amortisation  
and impairment. These intangible assets are amortised at rates in order to write off the assets on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives of between 3 and 10 years. Internally generated software are amortised at the point from which the software is considered  
fully functional.

The remaining amortisation period of these assets varies from 1 year – 6.5 years.

2.9 Goodwill
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is 
initially measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity 
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over the net of the acquisition date amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

The Company tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The carrying value of the goodwill is dependent on the future 
income stream from that asset.

Goodwill recognised in a business combination does not generate cash flows independently of other assets or groups of assets. As a result,  
the recoverable amount, being the value in use, is determined at a cash-generating unit (CGU) level.

The determination of a CGU is judgemental. The identification of CGUs involves an assessment of whether the asset or group of assets 
generate independent cash flows. 

For impairment purposes goodwill is tested annually at the CGU level. This was carried out at 31 March 2020. The carrying value of goodwill 
and the key assumptions used in performing the annual impairment assessment are disclosed in note 15.

2.10 Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment and whenever events  
or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised where the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds  
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units).

Critical estimates and assumptions made

In assessing the value in use of each CGU, our calculations required estimates in relation to uncertain items, including management’s 
expectations of future growth, operating costs, profit margins, operating cash flow and the discount rate for each CGU.

Future cash flows used in the value in use calculations are based on the latest approved financial plans extrapolated for future periods 
expected to benefit from the goodwill for each CGU. The future cash flows are discounted using a post-tax discount that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money. 

2.11 Financial instruments
The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity 
instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. Financial instruments are recognised on trade date when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the 
case of a financial instrument not at fair value through profit and loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue 
of the financial instrument. Financial instruments are derecognised on trade date when the Group is no longer a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets are included on the statement of financial position as trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities are included on the statement of financial position as trade and other payables and borrowings.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES/Continued
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(a) Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are stated at their original invoiced value, as the interest that would be recognised from discounting future cash receipts over 
the short credit period is not considered to be material. Trade receivables are reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts. 

(b) Trade payables 
Trade payables are stated at their original invoiced value, as the interest that would be recognised from discounting future cash payments over 
the short payment period is not considered to be material.

(c) Interest-bearing borrowings 
Interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method  
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate  
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability. 

2.12 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates  
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

(c) Subsidiary accounts denominated in foreign currency
On consolidation, assets and liabilities of non-sterling entities are translated to sterling at year-end rates of exchange, while their statements  
of income, other comprehensive income and cash flows are translated at monthly average rates. The resulting translation differences are 
recognised as currency translation differences within other comprehensive income.

2.13 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) is shown at cost less subsequent depreciation and impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of each asset less its residual value over its estimated 
useful life, as follows:

Computers, plant and machinery 3-10 years
Equipment 3-5 years
Leasehold improvements 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. Write downs and gains and losses on disposals are 
included in the statement of comprehensive income. 

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement  
of financial position. 
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2.15 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least  
12 months after the statement of financial position date.

2.16 Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated and company financial statements. The deferred income tax is not accounted for  
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit/loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted  
or substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset  
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, except where 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future employee benefits.

2.17 Pension obligations
The Group operates a pension scheme which is a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the 
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees 
the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.  
The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit 
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future 
payments is available. 

2.18 Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit 
attributable to that part of the Group for which the employee is profit responsible. The Group recognises a provision where contractually 
obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

2.19 Provisions
Provisions for clawback of indemnity commission, pensions review, unpaid salaries and other claims are recognised when the Group has  
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required  
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. 

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the 
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same 
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the statement of financial 
position date.

Notes to the Financial Statements/Continued 
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2.20 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the sale of services, net of value-added tax, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within  
the Group. 

Revenue from the sale of professional services is recognised as follows:

(a) Legal and professional services
Revenue from the provision of legal and professional services is recognised over time in the accounting period in which services are rendered. 
Contracts for the provision of legal and professional services may include fixed fee arrangements, variable fee arrangements based on time and 
materials or contingent fee arrangements. For fixed fee arrangements, revenue is recognised based on the actual services provided to the end 
of the reporting period as a proportion of the total services to be provided. For variable fee contracts based on time and materials, revenue is 
recognised at the amount of fees that the Group has a right to invoice for services provided, based on the fee rates agreed with the client.  
For conditional fee arrangements, fees are billed on completion depending on the outcome of the matter (e.g. Personal Injury or Clinical 
Negligence cases on a ‘no win, no fee’ basis). Revenue in respect of contingent fee assignments, over and above any agreed minimum fee,  
is included in revenue only to the extent that it is highly probable that the amount will not be subject to significant reversal when the 
uncertainty is resolved. This is generally when the matter is resolved and the outcome is known.

A receivable is recognised when a bill has been invoiced as this is the point in time that the consideration is considered unconditional because 
only the passage of time is required before payment is due. Where income has not been billed at the reporting date, it is included in accrued 
income. 

No element of financing is deemed to exist as payment is typically due within one year of the service being performed. 

(b) Employee benefits and financial advisory
Revenue relating to the employee benefits and financial advisory business represents fees and life and pension commission and is recognised 
at a point in time. Fees are recognised when invoiced and commissions are recognised when confirmation is received from the underwriters 
that payment is being made to the Group. A provision is made for clawback of commission which is deducted from turnover. 

(c) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 

2.21 Leases
As explained in note 34, the Group has changed its accounting policy for leases where the Group is the lessee. The new policy is described  
in note 34.2 and the impact of the change in note 34.1. 

Until 31 March 2019, leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group had substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership were 
classified as finance leases. Finance leases were capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment was allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve  
a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, were included in other 
borrowings. The interest element of the finance cost was charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance 
leases were depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership were classified as operating leases. Payments made under 
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease.

2.22 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the 
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.
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2.23 Share-based payments
The fair value at the date of grant of the equity instrument is recognised as an expense, spread over the vesting period of the instrument.  
The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the awards, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting 
conditions. At each statement of financial position date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments which are expected 
to become exercisable. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive income and  
a corresponding adjustment is made to equity. On vesting or exercise, the difference between the expense charged to the statement  
of comprehensive income and the actual cost to the Group is transferred to retained earnings. Where new shares are issued, the proceeds 
received are credited to share capital and share premium.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity 
risk, cash flow risk and fair value interest-rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Further details are set out in note 31.

Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors. The Board identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with 
the Group’s operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific 
areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest-rate risk, credit risk, use of convertible loan stock and non-convertible loan stock, and investing 
excess liquidity.

(a) Credit risk
Because the Group has a wide range of clients, in different market sectors, it has no significant concentrations of credit risk. It has policies  
in place to ensure that if customers do not settle their accounts within the agreed terms then the transaction is cancelled, minimising the  
credit exposure.

(b) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

(c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The interest rates of finance 
leases to which the Group is lessee are fixed at inception of the lease. These leases expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. 

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate 
risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. Group policy is to maintain approximately 33 per cent  
of its borrowings in fixed rate instruments. At March 2020, 100 per cent of borrowings were at fixed rates. 

Notes to the Financial Statements/Continued 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES/Continued

50 T H E  I N C E  G R O U P P LC   /   A N N U A L R E P O R T A N D  F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S  2 0 2 0



4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the 
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts  
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimated impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been 
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and 
a suitable discount rate.

(b) Other receivables
Other receivables represent unbilled amounts for client work and are measured initially at fair value and held at amortised cost less provisions 
for foreseeable losses based upon current observable data and historical trend.

(c) Impairment of receivables
Receivables are held at cost less provisions for impairment. Provisions for impairment represent an allowance for doubtful debts that  
is estimated, based upon current observable data and historical trend.

(d) Valuation of intangible assets
Business combinations are accounted for at fair value. The valuation of goodwill and acquired intangibles is calculated separately on each 
individual acquisition. In attributing value to intangible assets arising on acquisition, management has made certain assumptions in relation  
to expected growth rates, profitability, length of key customer relationships and the appropriate discount rate. The value of intangible assets  
at 31 March 2020 was £80,825,000 (2019: £74,443,000 restated).

(e) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the 
Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured 
using management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date and are discontinued to present 
value where the effect is material. The value of provisions at 31 March 2020 was £4,596,000 (2019: £10,135,000 restated).

(f) Amortisation of intangible assets other than goodwill
The useful life used to amortise intangible assets relates to the expected future performance of the assets acquired and management’s 
judgement of the period over which economic benefit will be derived from the asset.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Group
In the following table, revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by primary geographical market and major service offering: 

Legal &
professional

services
£’000

Other
£’000

Total
£’000

Year ended 31 March 2020

UK 61,740 2,120 63,860 

Europe, Middle East & Africa 13,328 – 13,328

Asia 21,290 – 21,290 

Total revenue 96,358 2,120 98,478 

Year ended 31 March 2019

UK 49,835 1,944 51,779 

Asia 797 – 797 

Total revenue 50,632 1,944 52,576 

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets by geographical areas are not presented, as this information is not 
provided to the chief operating decision maker of the Group.

6. STAFF COSTS
Group
The average number of persons employed by the Group (excluding Directors) during the period, analysed by category, was as follows: 

No. of employees

2020 2019

Fee earners  342 194

Direct support staff  134 69

Support staff  258 133

Total 734 396

The aggregate employment costs of these persons were as follows:

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Wages and salaries 38,304 15,473 

Social security costs 3,495 1,740 

Employee benefits costs 2,088 569 

Pension costs 1,266 514 

Total staff costs 45,153 18,296 

Company
The Company has no employees (excluding Directors) (2019: none); all personnel are employed by subsidiary entities. 

Details of the remuneration of and transactions with Directors are included in the Directors’ Remuneration Report accompanying these 
financial statements. The Directors are considered to be key management personnel.
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7. OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit is stated after charging/ (crediting):

Group
2020

£’000

Group
2019

£’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 70 54 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:

• audit of the accounts of subsidiaries 241 190 

• audit-related assurance services 47 69 

• other assurance services 33 73 

• corporate finance services – 141 

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets

• owned assets 1,487 81 

• hire purchase – 17 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4,663 –

Amortisation/impairment of intangible assets:

• turnover related 2,046 362 

• other 83 1,205 

Bad debt expense 2,041 1,764 

Hire of plant and equipment 94 336 

Share-based payment expense 172 48

8. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSE
Group
2020

£’000

Group
2019

£’000

Finance income

Bank interest receivable 347 213 

Other income 5 5 

352 218 

Finance expense

Bank interest payable (11) (95)

Hire purchase (3) (5)

Finance charge on leases (514) –

Other loans (519) (84)

Other interest (8) (3)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (516) (64)

(1,571) (251)

Net finance income/(expense) (1,219) (33)
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9. NON-RECURRING COSTS
Non-recurring costs include acquisition related costs of £588,000 (2019: £5,823,000) and other material items related to the acquisition which 
will not recur of £1,069,000 (2019: £8,444,000).

Acquisition related costs represent professional fees and other costs incurred in acquisitions completed or under negotiation during the year. 

Other material items represent costs incurred specifically as a result of the integration activities associated with the Ince & Co acquisition. 
These costs include restructuring and merging of administrative functions (such as redundancy costs, the necessary hardware and software 
costs to enable the merging of systems and re-branding costs) and the equity fund raising. In addition, the Group had certain onerous 
contractual costs including the costs of premises no longer being used and had to make a number of non-contractual payments to former 
suppliers of the Ince entities in respect of the liabilities of those entities to ensure access to continuing services.

Non-recurring costs include non-audit fees payable to the Company’s auditors of £54,000 (2019: £336,000).

10. TAXATION
i. Analysis of charge in the period

Group
2020

£’000

Group
2019

£’000

The charge for taxation comprises:

Taxation charge for the current period 1,375 206 

Adjustment in respect of prior periods 168 – 

1,543 206 

ii. Factors affecting the tax charge for the period: 

The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19.0 per cent (2019:19.0 per cent).  
The differences are explained below: 

Group
2020

£’000

Group
2019

£’000

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 23,202 966 

Less profit arising in partnerships, on which tax is payable by the members personally (15,148) (1,009)

Profit on ordinary activities of corporate entities before taxation 8,054 (43)

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax of 19% (2019: 19%) 1,530 (8)

Effects of:

Impact of tax exempt items (279) 237 

Losses (utilised)/carried forward

Difference in overseas tax rates

–
124

(23)
–

Total taxation charge for the current period 1,375 206 
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share are based on the weighted average number of shares of the Company in issue or issued as consideration for the entities 
whose results are reported in the period. The number of shares and periods are as follows:

1 April 2017 12,509,623

15 June 2017 13, 4 1 7, 1 4 3 Being the shares issued by the Company as consideration for the  

acquisition of all of the shares in issue by Culver Holdings Limited  

at the date of the reverse acquisition

4 August 2017 28,597,310 Being the Company’s issued shares on re-admission to the AIM market  

of the London Stock Exchange

19 January 2018 2 8, 759,7 1 1 Being the Company’s issued shares following new shares issued  

to Culver Ventures Limited loan stock holders

12 February 2019 36,976,730 Being the Company’s issued shares following new shares issued  

as part of an equity placing exercise

27 November 2019 37,326,730 Being the Company’s issued shares following new shares issued  

as consideration on acquisition of Ince Compliance Solutions Limited

3 February 2020 68,540,912 Being the Company’s issued shares following new shares issued  

as part of an equity placing exercise

Basic earnings per share, shown on the statement of comprehensive income, is based on profit after tax £4,952,000 divided by 42,043,732 
being the weighted average total number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.

Adjusted basic earnings per share, shown on the statement of comprehensive income, is based on adjusted profit before tax £8,015,000 after 
deducting tax of £1,543,000 divided by 42,043,732, being the weighted average total number of ordinary shares in issue during the period. 

If the 2,178,562 share options issued on 31 December 2018 (described in note 12) were included the weighted average total number  
of shares for the period would be 43,379,204, which is applied in the calculation of diluted earnings per share, also shown on the consolidated 
income statement. 

Adjusted profit before tax is calculated as follows:

Group
2020

£’000

Group
2019

£’000

Profit before tax from statement of comprehensive income 23,202 966 

Deduct: Partners’ profit shares shown as non-controlling interests (16,844) (9,312)

Add: Non-recurring expenses:

• Acquisition related expenditure 588 5,823 

• Material related costs 1,069 8,444 

Adjusted profit before tax 8,015 5,921 

Deduct: Income tax (1,543) (206)

Adjusted profit after tax 6,472 5,715 

12. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS
The Group has established the Ince Group Share Option Plan 2017 (“Plan”) for the grant of share options to certain eligible employees  
to acquire shares in the capital of the Company in order to reward such eligible employees for their contribution to the Company’s success  
and to provide an incentive going forward.

As part of the consideration for the acquisition of the members’ interests of Ince & Co LLP, the members of Ince & Co LLP were collectively 
granted 2,392,846 ordinary shares of 1p each in the Group as part of the Plan on 31 December 2018. The options have a vesting period  
of three years from issue and a contractual life of 10 years.

The fair value of the employee share options has been measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Service and non-market conditions attached 
to the arrangements were not taken into account measuring fair value.
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At 1 April 2019 the brought forward number of ordinary shares of 1p at an exercise price of 140p was 2,392,846.

During the year, 214,284 ordinary shares of 1p at an exercise price of 140p were forfeited by resigning members of Ince & Co LLP. 

At 31 March 2020 the carried forward number of ordinary shares of 1p at an exercise price of 140p was 2,178,562.

The inputs used in measurement of the fair values at grant date of the shares were as follows:

Fair value 0.24

Share price 1.79

Exercise price 1.40

Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 0.59%

Expected volatility (weighted average) 1.14%

Dividend yield 3.35%

Expected life (weighted average) 3 years

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (“PPE”)
Group

Land and
buildings

£’000

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment

£’000

Leasehold
Improvements

£’000
Total

£’000

Cost

Balance at 1 April 2019 230 1,137 – 1,367 

Acquisition of subsidiary (note 16.1) – 2,960 2,488 5,448

Additions – 572 864 1,436

Disposals – (57) – (57)

Exchange differences – 159 87 246

Balance at 31 March 2020 230 4,771 3,439 8,440

Depreciation

Balance at 1 April 2019 – 185 – 185 

Acquisition of subsidiary (note 16.1) – 2,007 947 2,954

Disposals – (55) – (55)

Exchange differences – 64 44 108

Charge for the period – 933 554 1,487

Balance at 31 March 2020 – 3,134 1,545 4,679

Carrying value

At 31 March 2019 230 952 – 1,182 

At 31 March 2020 230 1,637 1,894 3,761

Included in the carrying value of PPE is £Nil (2019: £Nil) of assets held by the Group under hire purchase or finance leases. The depreciation 
charge for the period for these assets was £Nil (2019: £17,000).

Notes to the Financial Statements/Continued 

12. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS/Continued

56 T H E  I N C E  G R O U P P LC   /   A N N U A L R E P O R T A N D  F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S  2 0 2 0



The figures for the previous period are as follows: 

Land and
buildings

£’000

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment

£’000
Total

£’000

Cost

Balance at 1 April 2018 230 223 453 

Acquisition of subsidiary (note 15) – 914 914 

Additions – – – 

Balance at 31 March 2019 230 1,137 1,367 

Depreciation

Balance at 1 April 2018 – 86 86 

Charge for the period – 99 99 

Balance at 31 March 2019 – 185 185 

Carrying value

At 31 March 2018 230 137 367 

At 31 March 2019 230 952 1,182 

Company
Furniture,

fittings and
equipment

£’000

Leasehold
improvements

£’000
Total

£’000

Cost

Balance at 1 April 2019 – – – 

Additions 2 114 116 

Balance at 31 March 2020 2 114 116 

Depreciation

Balance at 1 April 2019 – – –

Charge for the period 1 25 26 

Balance at 31 March 2020 1 25 26 

Carrying value

At 31 March 2019 – – – 

At 31 March 2020 1 89 90 
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14. LEASES
14.1 Right-of-use assets
Group

Land and
buildings

£’000

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment

£’000
Total

£’000

Balance at 1 April 2019 9,958 283 10,241 

Additions 5,734 292 6,026 

Acquisition of subsidiaries 5,945 – 5,945

Disposals (297) – (297) 

Exchange differences 189 – 189

Depreciation charge for the year (4,563) (100) (4,663) 

Balance at 31 March 2020 16,966 475 17,441 

Company

Land and
buildings

£’000

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment

£’000
Total

£’000

Balance at 1 April 2019 – – – 

Additions 964 – 964 

Depreciation charge for the year (268) – (268) 

Balance at 31 March 2020 696 – 696 

14.2 Lease liabilities
2020

£’000

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows

Less than one year  5,968

One to five years  9,918

More than five years  2,050

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 March 17,936

Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position

Current 5,552

Non-current 13,284

  18,836

Notes to the Financial Statements/Continued 
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14.3 Amounts recognised in profit or loss
2020

£’000

Interest on lease liabilities 514

Expenses relating to short-term leases 336

Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets 94

Total cash outflow for leases in the year was £3,292,000.

Termination options are included in a number of property leases across the Group. As at 31 March 2020, potential future cash outflows  
of £24,072,000 (undiscounted) have not been included in the lease liability because it is not reasonably certain that the lease will not  
be terminated. 

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group

Goodwill 
£’000

Client 
portfolio 

£’000

Brand &
trademarks

£’000

Internally 
generated 

software 
£’000 

Intellectual 
property 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Cost 

At 1 April 2019 (as restated) 50,820 12,219 17,000 1,248 189 81,476

Acquisition of subsidiary 4,227 3,248 – – – 7,475

Additions – – – 1,036 – 1,036

At 31 March 2020 55,047 15,467 17,000 2,284 189 89,987

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 April 2019 – 6,818 – 168 47 7,033

Charge for period – 2,046 – 64 19 2,129

At 31 March 2020 – 8,864 – 232 66 9,162

Carrying value

At 31 March 2019 50,820 5,401 17,000 1,080 142 74,443

At 31 March 2020 55,047 6,603 17,000 2,052 123 80,825

Client portfolio represents the acquisition of the business and certain assets from other professional services firms. The client portfolio 
intangible asset is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is provided for in line with the fees billed and cash collections 
generated by the client portfolio acquired.

Brands and trademarks £17,000,000 (2019: £17,000,000) relates to the value attributed to the Ince brand that the Group acquired  
on 1 January 2019. This has been determined based on an external valuation report, as detailed in note 2.8.

Internally generated software includes £2,284,000 (2019: £1,248,000) of development costs relating to development of software applications. 
The Directors have considered the carrying value of internally generated software of £2,052,000 (2019: £1,080,000) as appropriate as it is 
expected to create future economic benefit.

Intellectual property carrying amount includes £123,000 (2019: £142,000) of intellectual property acquired on the acquisition of certain assets 
and liabilities of Prolegal Limited from its administrator.

Details of the restatement of balances at 31 March 2019 are set out in note 35.
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The intangible assets of the Group for the prior year (restated) were as follows:-

Goodwill
£’000

Client
portfolio

£’000

Brand &
trademarks

£’000

Internally
generated

software
£’000

Intellectual
property

£’000
Total

£’000

Cost

Balance at 1 April 2018 24,150 7,719 – 453 189 32,511 

Acquisition of subsidiary 26,387 4,500 17,000 – – 47,887 

Additions 279 – – 795 – 1,074 

Reassessment of fair value 4 – – – – 4 

Eliminated on disposal – – – – – – 

Balance at 31 March 2019 50,820 12,219 17,000 1,248 189 81,476 

Amortisation and impairment

Balance at 1 April 2018 – 5,336 – 103 28 5,467 

Charge for the period – 1,482 – 65 19 1,566 

Eliminated on disposal – – – – – – 

Balance at 31 March 2019 – 6,818 – 168 47 7,033 

Carrying value

At 31 March 2018 24,150 2,383 – 350 161 27,044 

At 31 March 2019 50,820 5,401 17,000 1,080 142 74,443 
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Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units (CGUs) or group of units that are expected 
to benefit from that business combination and is analysed below. 

Investments
£’000

Culver
Financial
Services

£’000

White &
Black
£’000

Regions
£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2019 (restated) 8,494 4,185 2,005 8,722 

Acquisition of subsidiary 417 – – –

Balance at 31 March 2020 8,911 4,185 2,005 8,722

Impairment     

At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 – – – – 

Carrying value

At 31 March 2019 8,494 4,185 2,005 8,722 

At 31 March 2020 8,911 4,185 2,005 8,722

Platt, PLI
& Ince
£’000

Overseas
£’000

Total
goodwill

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2019 (restated) 26,316 1,098 50,820 

Acquisition of subsidiary – 3,810 4,227

Balance at 31 March 2020 26,316 4,908 55,047

Impairment    

At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 – – – 

Carrying value

At 31 March 2019 26,316 1,098 50,820 

At 31 March 2020 26,316 4,908 55,047

An annual goodwill impairment review was performed. The CGUs represent the smallest identifiable groups of assets that generate cash flows, 
and to which goodwill is allocated.

The value in use of each CGU is determined using cash flow projections derived from financial plans. This reflects management’s expectations 
of future revenue growth, operating costs and cost reductions due to synergies, profit margins, operating cash flows based on past 
performance and future expectations of business performance. The cash flows have then been extended for a minimum of five years. 
Estimated taxation has been deducted calculated at the estimated applicable corporation tax rate, of 19% for the next two years and 17%  
for the years thereafter, in line with current HMRC guidance.

In respect of the above, income budgets are based on historic results adjusted for experience and capacity level of fee earning staff and known 
changes in circumstances. These are reviewed with the heads of department for each fee earning area. Average annual growth rate of 6.06%  
is based on past performance and management expectations.

Costs are largely fixed staff and establishment costs and are forecast based on the current structure of the business, adjusting for inflationary 
increases but not reflecting any future restructurings or cost saving measures.

The future cash flows have been discounted using a post-tax discount rate of 7.9%.

The two-year financial plans include growth rates for each CGU based on the individual market assessment for each CGU. 

Company 
There are no intangible assets held by the Company (2019: None).
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16. INVESTMENTS
The carrying value of investments held by the Group and Company were as follows:

Group
2020

£’000

Group
2019

£’000

Company
2020

£’000

Company
2019

£’000

Investments in Group undertakings – – 47,607 47,191 

Interests in associates 470 379 – – 

470 379 47,607 47,191 

16.1 Investments in Group undertakings
Company

Investments 
in Group

undertakings
£’000

Cost

Balance at 1 April 2019 50,709 

Additions 416

Balance at 31 March 2020 51,125

Impairment and provisions

Balance at 1 April 2019 3,518 

Impairment –

Balance at 31 March 2020 3,518

Carrying value

At 31 March 2019 47,191 

At 31 March 2020 47,607
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On 31 March 2020, The Ince Group plc had control for the purposes of IFRS 10 of the following subsidiary undertakings which are included  
in the consolidated financial statements.

UK companies Principal activity Interest held Registered office

Culver Holdings Limited Intermediate holding company Note 1 (b)

Ince Gordon Dadds Corporate Finance Limited Intermediate holding company Note 1 (b)

Culver Financial Management Limited Independent financial advisor Note 1 (b)

Hanover Financial Management Limited Independent financial advisor Note 1 (b)

Hanover Employee Benefits Limited Independent financial advisor Note 1 (b)

Ince Gordon Dadds Services Limited Management services Note 1 (b)

Hanover Pensions Limited Professional services Note 1 (b)

Ince Gordon Dadds MAP Limited Legal services Note 1 (b)

GDGS (Alen-Buckley) Limited Legal services Note 1 (b)

GDGS (Metcalfes) Limited Legal services Note 1 (b)

White & Black Limited Legal services Note 1 (c)

e.Legal Technology Solutions Limited IT services Note 2 (b)

Ince Gordon Dadds Professional Services Limited Professional services Note 1 (b)

Ince GD Corporate Services Limited Corporate services Note 1 (a)

Ince Gordon Dadds Talent Services Limited Professional services Note 1 (b)

Ince Process Agents Limited Legal services Note 1 (a)

Culver Finance Limited Intermediate holding company Note 1 (b)

IGD (Cardiff) Limited Legal services Note 1 (b)

Gordon Dadds Private Office Limited Legal services Note 1 (d)

Ince Compliance Solutions Limited Professional services Note 1 (b)

UK Limited Liability Partnerships Principal activity Interest held Registered office

Ince Gordon Dadds Holdings LLP Intermediate holding LLP Note 3 (b)

Ince Gordon Dadds LLP Legal services Note 3 (a)

White & Black Legal LLP Legal services Note 3 (c)

Ince Gordon Dadds AP LLP Professional services Note 5 (b)

Ince Gordon Dadds CP LLP Professional services Note 5 (b)

CW Energy LLP Professional services Note 3 (b)

IGD International LLP Professional services Note 3 (b)

Ince Consultancy LLP Professional services Note 5 (b)

Overseas companies Location Principal activity Interest held Registered office

Ramparts Corporate Advisors Limited Gibraltar Legal services Note 1 (e)

Penlee Legal Investments Limited Guernsey Professional services Note 1 (f)

Ramparts Corporate Services Limited Gibraltar Professional services Note 1 (e)

Ince Consulting Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Professional services Note 1 (g)

Incisive Limited Hong Kong Management services Note 1 (g)

UK Limited Liability Partnerships operating overseas Location Principal activity Interest held Registered office

Ince & Co Middle East LLP Dubai Legal services Note 4 (a)

Ince & Co Germany LLP Germany Legal services Note 4 (a)
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Overseas LLPs and partnerships Location Principal activity Interest held Registered office

Ince & Co Singapore LLP Singapore Legal services Note 4 (h)

Ince & Co (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Legal services Note 4 (g)

Herring Parry Khan Law Office Greece Legal services Note 4 (i)

Ince & Co Monaco SARL (Monaco) Monaco Legal services Note 4 (j)

Note 1. The Group holds 100% of ordinary share capital.

Note 2. The Group holds 60% of ordinary share capital.

Note 3. The Group has 100% interest as the sole economic member.

Note 4.  Profit sharing and voting control of these entities is held by the local members. The entities are subject to regulation by the regulator 
in the jurisdictions in which they operate.

Note 5. The Group indirectly controls the entities by virtue of contractual agreements.

Registered offices of all subsidiaries:

(a) Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street, London, United Kingdom, E1 8QN

(b) Llanmaes, Michaelston Road, St Fagans, Cardiff, United Kingdom, CF5 6DU

(c) Home Park, Grove Road, Bladon, Oxfordshire, England, OX20 1FX

(d) Leconfield House, Curzon Street, London, United Kingdom, W1J 5JA

(e) 6.20 World Trade Center, 6 Bayside Road, Gibraltar

(f) P.O. Box 661, St. Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 3PW

(g) Suites 4404-10, 44/F, One Island East, 18 Westlands Road, Taikoo Place, Hong Kong

(h) 5 Shenton Way #19-01, V on Shenton, Singapore (068808)

(i) The Livanos Building, 47-49 Akti Miaouli, Piraeus 18536, Greece

(j) Gildo Pastor Center, 7 Rue du Gabian, 98000 Monaco

16.2 Business combinations and acquisitions
The details set out below provide the information required under IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ for the acquisitions that occurred during the 
year ended 31 March 2020.

The total amount of revenue and associated profit derived from acquired entities in the year was £29,749,000 and £29,000. An estimate of the 
annualised revenue and associated profit/(loss) (based on pro-rated figures) had the acquisitions occurred at the start of the year is 
£29,885,000 and (£42,000).
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Ince & Co overseas
With effect from 1 April 2019 the Group gained control for the purposes of IFRS 10 over the following Ince overseas network entities:

 – Ince & Co (Hong Kong)
 – Ince & Co Singapore LLP
 – Ince & Co Middle East LLP
 – Herring, Parry, Khan Law Office
 – Ince & Co Germany LLP

Until 31 December 2018 these entities were subsidiaries of Ince & Co International LLP (now in administration and renamed). With effect from 
1 April 2019, revised arrangements were agreed with these entities which gave the Group control for the purposes of IFRS 10 as shown above.

As part of the new arrangements concluded with effect from 1 April 2019, the Group has agreed to make payments to the partners of those 
entities depending on the levels of revenue achieved in the three-year period ending 31 December 2021. Based on revenue expectations,  
the Group currently estimates that these payments will amount in aggregate to £10 million over the three years of which £3,248,000 is 
regarded as the purchase of a client portfolio and will be amortised in line with the fees billed and cash collections being generated by the 
client portfolio acquired. 

Initial consideration was £500,000 and contingent consideration of £6,446,000 and goodwill of £3,710,000 was recognised in accounting for  
the acquisition.

Ramparts Corporate Services Limited
On 10 June 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Ramparts Corporate Services Limited, a Gibraltar-based practice 
providing corporate and administrative support for listed funds and listing market instruments.

Initial consideration was £258,000 and goodwill of £100,000 was recognised in accounting for the acquisition.

Ince & Co Monaco SARL
Ince Monaco was formally consolidated into the Group on 1 November 2019. Its acquisition represents a further expansion of the global 
network through which the Group now operates, with the associated future benefits that is expected to bring. Accordingly, negative goodwill 
of £591,000 was recognised in accounting for the acquisition. 

Ince Compliance Solutions Limited
On 27 November 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Ince Compliance Solutions Limited (formerly Mahtcorp1 
Limited), a UK based company which has the benefit of a service contract with Mark Tantam who was appointed as the Group’s Global Head  
of Consulting.

350,000 new ordinary shares in The Ince Group plc were issued as consideration and goodwill of £417,000 was recognised in accounting for 
the acquisition.
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16.2.1 Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition were as follows:

Ince & Co
Overseas

£’000

Ramparts
Corporate

Services
Limited

£’000

Ince & Co
Monaco

£’000

Ince
Compliance

Solutions
Limited

£’000

Total
acquisitions

£’000

Property, plant and equipment 2,460 8 26 – 2,494 

Right-of-use assets 5,823 – 122 – 5,945 

Intangible asset 3,248 – – – 3,248 

Investments – – – – – 

Trade and other receivables 10,048 132 1,128 – 11,308 

Cash and cash equivalents 2,538 42 256 – 2,836 

Trade and other payables (12,846) (24) (759) – (13,629) 

Borrowings (494) – – – (494)

Provisions (769) – (60) – (829)

Lease liabilities (5,902) – (122) – (6,024)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 4,106 158 591 – 4,855

Goodwill 3,710 100 – 417 4,227 

Negative goodwill – – (591) – (591)

Non-controlling interest in the recognised amounts  

of identifiable assets and liabilities (870) – – – (870)

Total consideration 6,946 258 – 417 7,621 

Satisfied by:

Cash 500 258 – – 758 

Equity instruments – – – 417 417 

Contingent consideration 6,446 – – – 6,446 

Total consideration transferred 6,946 258 – 417 7,621 

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

Cash consideration 500 258 – – 758 

Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (2,538) (42) (256) – (2,836)

Net cash outflow/(inflow) (2,038) 216 (256) – (2,078)

16.3 Discontinued operations
On 25 June 2019, the Group sold 100% of its shareholding in Allium Law Limited (formerly Thomas Simon Limited) for consideration  
of £59,000.

On 30 January 2020, the Group disposed of its interest and retired as a member of GD Financial Markets LLP for consideration of £258,000.
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Financial information relating to discontinued operations for the period to the date of disposal is set out below:

Allium
Law

Limited
£’000

GD
Financial
Markets

LLP
£’000

Total
discontinued

operations
£’000

Results of discontinued operation:

Revenue – 1,366 1,366 

Elimination of internal revenue – (314) (314)

External revenue – 1,052 1,052 

External expenses – (966) (966)

Profit before tax – 86 86 

Income tax expense – – – 

Profit after tax of discontinued operation – 86 86 

Gain/(loss) on disposal of the subsidiary after income tax 84 (33) 51 

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operation 84 53 137 

Consideration received or receivable:

Cash 59 – 59 

Deferred consideration – 258 258 

Total consideration 59 258 317 

Less: carrying amount of net assets sold 25 (570) (545)

Add back: non-controlling interest – 279 279 

Gain/(loss) on disposal of the subsidiary after income tax 84 (33) 51 

Consideration received, satisfied in cash 59 – 59 

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (1) (249) (250)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) 58 (249) (191)

16.4 Interests in associates

Group
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

Cost of investment in associate 621 390 

Share of post-acquisition loss net of dividends received (151) (11)

Carrying value of interests in associates 470 379 

The Group holds 100% of the New Series C Shares, representing 30% of the total share capital of James Stocks & Co (Holdings) Limited,  
a professional services firm who specialise in corporate finance and strategic advice. James Stocks & Co (Holdings) Limited was incorporated  
and operates in Gibraltar. 

Summarised financial information in respect of James Stocks & Co (Holdings) Limited is set out below:

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Net profit/(loss) (467) 77 

Net assets 192 148 
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group
2020

£’000

Restated
Group

2019
£’000

Company
2020

£’000

Company
2019

£’000

Trade receivables 26,870 15,598 – – 

Accrued income 5,925 3,960 – – 

Other receivables 4,033 8,570 518 153 

Amounts due from subsidiaries – – 37,977 30,045 

Prepayments 7,584 3,832 391 25 

44,412 31,960 38,886 30,223 

Trade receivables are stated including £3,481,000 of VAT and £3,412,000 of disbursements.

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Group
2020

£’000

Group
2019

£’000

Company
2020

£’000

Company
2019

£’000

Cash in hand and at bank 5,250 4,759 3 987 

Total 5,250 4,759 3 987 

Cash and cash equivalents include the following:

Cash as above 5,250 4,759 3 987 

Bank overdrafts (59) (39) – –

Total 5,191 4,720 3 987 

19. SHARE CAPITAL

%
2020

Number
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

Authorised

Ordinary shares of 1p each 100 68,540,912 686 370

686 370

%
2020

Number
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid

Ordinary shares of 1p each 100 68,540,912 686 370

686 370

Ordinary shares rank equally as regards to dividends, other distributions and return on capital. Each ordinary share carries the right to one vote.

On 27 November 2019, 350,000 ordinary shares were issued at 1p per share, with a nominal value of 1p per share. 

On 3 February 2020, 31,214,182 ordinary shares were issued at 45p per share, with a nominal value of 1p per share.
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2020
Number

2020
£’000

Ordinary shares of 1p each

At 1 April 36,976,730 370

Shares issued during the year 31,564,182 316

At 31 March  68,540,912 686

Details of share options issued in the year are set out in note 12.

20. RESERVES
Share premium represents the difference between the amount received and the par value of shares issued less transaction costs. 

The reverse acquisition reserve has arisen under IFRS3 ‘Business Combinations’ following the acquisition of The Ince Group. 

Other reserves represents the impact of the valuation of share options issued in the year, details of which are set out in note 12,  
and the difference between fair value and nominal value of shares issued in share-for-share exchanges.

Foreign exchange translation reserve includes gains or losses in translating overseas operations into GBP sterling.

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group
2020

£’000

Restated
Group

2019
£’000

Company
2020

£’000

Company
2019

£’000

Current:

Trade payables 12,263 7,666 524 289 

Amounts due to subsidiaries – – 27,046 27,187 

Other taxes and social security 3,445 2,436 36 12 

Other payables 3,133 6,008 – 1 

Deferred consideration 14,608 7,436 – – 

Unpaid dividends 15 – 15 –

Accruals 5,861 4,276 135 101 

39,325 27,822 27,756 27,590 

Non-current:

Other payables 1,391 – – –

Deferred consideration 21,062 31,409 – – 

Accruals – 4,022 – – 

22,453 35,431 – – 

Total 61,778 63,253 27,756 27,590 

Deferred consideration relates to business combinations and the purchase of client lists and relationships. 
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22. BORROWINGS 
Group
2020

£’000

Group
2019

£’000

Company
2020

£’000

Company
2019

£’000

Bank overdrafts 59 39 – – 

Bank loans 11,651 6,000 11,600 6,000 

Other loans 2,519 1,542 – – 

Obligations under hire purchase and lease contracts – 29 – – 

Total borrowings 14,229 7,610 11,600 6,000 

Current 3,829 2,370 1,200 900 

Non-current 10,400 5,240 10,400 5,100 

Total 14,229 7,610 11,600 6,000 

The Group has a secured bank loan with Barclays Bank Plc with a carrying value of £5,100,000 at 31 March 2020 (2019: £6,000,000). The loan 
was entered into on 31 December 2018, has a term of three years (to be repaid in quarterly instalments which commenced from September 
2019) and carries interest at LIBOR + 2.25% per annum. A £6,500,000 revolving credit facility was also entered into with Barclays Bank Plc  
at 31 December 2018, and was drawn down during the year. The loan and the revolving credit facility are both secured against certain entities 
within the Group and are subject to covenants which are assessed each quarter (no current or forecast breaches have been identified).

The Group has a secured bank loan with Commerz Bank with a carrying value of £51,000 at 31 March 2020. The Group acquired the loan 
through the acquisition of Ince & Co Germany LLP during the year. The loan was entered into on 1 October 2016, has a term of four years  
(to be repaid in monthly instalments which commenced from June 2017) and carries interest at 3% per annum.

Other loans of £2,519,000 (2019: £1,542,000) are unsecured and carry interest at between 3.0 per cent and 10 per cent per annum.  
Other loans are repayable within 12 months, except non-current other loans of £Nil (2019: £126,000) which has a maturity of 1-3 years.

23. PROVISIONS
Group

Onerous
lease & 

employment
contracts

£’000

Other
provisions

£’000
Total

£’000

Balance at 31 March 2019 (restated) 2,280 7,855 10,135

Provisions made – 562 562

Subsidiaries joining the Group – 829 829

Unwinding of discounting 12 – 12

Utilised during the year (1,167) (3,168) (4,335)

Amounts released – (2,607) (2,607)

Balance at 31 March 2020 1,125 3,471 4,596

Current 684 1,723 2,407

Non-current 441 1,748 2,189

Provisions categorised as current liabilities represent provisions for liabilities which have the possibility of being settled within one year.

Provisions for onerous property leases and employment contracts relate to rental costs for the Group’s prior head office and agreed contractual 
employment arrangements for a former Ince & Co employee.

Other provisions include legacy liabilities inherited with the Ince & Co acquisition of £1,347,000 (2019: £5,731,000 restated), refurbishment 
costs for the Group’s head office of £Nil (2019: £1,357,000), and uninsured excess on potential claims of £897,000 (2019: £723,000).
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24. PENSIONS
The Group participates in a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in  
a fund administered by Options Corporate Pensions UK. Contributions from employers and employees totalling £176,000 (2019: £226,000) 
were payable to the fund at the year end and are included in payables. 

25. ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY
The Ince Group plc is owned by its shareholders and there is no ultimate controlling party.

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Group
In addition to the transactions disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report the Group has entered into the following transactions with 
related parties:

The Group occupies office accommodation at Llanmaes, St Fagans, Cardiff under arrangements with Juratone Limited, a company of which  
AJ Biles is a director. Rent and service charges of £207,000 (2019: £202,000) were charged during the year under these arrangements and  
the Group charged Juratone Limited amounts of £23,000 (2019: £13,000). At the balance sheet date an amount due to Juratone Limited  
of £Nil (2019: £Nil) is included in payables and an amount due from Juratone Limited of £104,000 (2019: £78,000) is included in receivables.

AJ Biles is a designated LLP member of ACR Professional Services LLP. Professional services of £240,000 (2019: £131,940) were charged from 
ACR Professional Services LLP to the Group during the year. Fees and reimbursed expenses of £20,000 (2019: £Nil) were charged from the 
Group to ACR Professional Services LLP during the year. At the balance sheet date the Group was owed £291,000 (2019: £163,000) from  
ACR Professional Services LLP.

The Group charged fees and reimbursed expenses of £322,000 (2019: £724,000) to e.Legal Technology Solutions Limited during the year.  
The Group was charged fees and reimbursed expenses of £907,000 (2019: £1,353,000) by e.Legal Technology Solutions Limited during the 
year. At the balance sheet date the Group owed £145,000 to e.Legal Technology Solutions Limited (2019: the Group was owed £27,000 from 
e.Legal Technology Solutions Limited). During the year, e.Legal Technology Solutions Limited transferred an intangible asset totalling £130,000  
at nil gain/nil loss to the Group.

The Group charged Stann Marine Limited, a company in which a designated member of Ince Gordon Dadds AP LLP is a director, fees under  
a management agreement totalling £211,000 (2019: £127,000).

The Group charged fees to associate company James Stocks & Co Limited of £49,000 (2019: £37,000) and was charged fees  
of £Nil (2019: £Nil) during the year. At the balance sheet date the Group was owed £119,000 (2019: £Nil) from James Stocks & Co Limited.

The Group charged fees of £1,150,000 (2019: £Nil) to Incisive Law LLC during the year. The Group was charged fees of £6,696,000  
(2019: £Nil) to Incisive Law LLC. At the balance sheet date the Group was owed £1,999,000 (2019: £Nil) from Incisive Law LLC.  
Incisive Law LLC is a Singapore-based formal law alliance (“FLA”) with Ince & Co Singapore LLP.

Company
In addition to the transactions disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report the Company has entered into the following transactions with 
related parties: 

The Company charged reimbursed expenses of £692,000 (2019: £177,000) to subsidiary undertakings during the year. At the balance sheet 
date an amount due from subsidiary undertakings of £Nil (2019: £Nil) is included in trade receivables.

The Company was charged fees and reimbursed expenses of £910,000 (2019: £76,000) by subsidiary undertakings during the year.  
At the balance sheet date an amount due to subsidiary undertakings of £Nil (2019: £Nil) is included in trade payables. 
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s operations expose it to a number of financial risks. A risk management programme has been established to protect the Group 
and the Company against the potential adverse effects of these financial risks. There has been no significant change in these financial risks 
since the prior year. 

Fair value of financial instruments
Financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, including sums due from subsidiaries and loan stock, 
bank and other loans, obligations under hire purchase and lease contracts and trade and other payables. In the Directors’ opinion, the carrying 
value of the financial instruments approximates their fair value. 

Note

Group
2020

£’000

Restated
Group

2019
£’000

Company
2020

£’000

Company
2019

£’000

Loans and receivables:

Trade receivables 17 26,870 15,598 – –

Accrued income 17 5,925 3,960 – –

Cash and cash equivalents 18 5,250 4,759 3 987 

Other receivables 17 4,033 8,570 518 153 

Amounts due from subsidiaries 17 – – 37,552 30,045 

Total financial assets  42,078 32,887 38,073 31,185

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

Borrowings 22 14,229 7,610 11,600 6,000 

Lease liabilities 14 18,836 – 760

Trade payables 21 12,263 7,666 524 289 

Other payables 21 3,133 6,008 – 1 

Deferred consideration 21 35,670 38,845 – –

Amounts due to subsidiaries 21 – – 26,621 27,187

Total financial liabilities  84,131 60,129 39,505 33,477

Total financial instruments  (42,053) (27,242) (1,432) (2,292)
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28. CREDIT RISK
Customers are assessed for creditworthiness and credit limits are also imposed on customers and reviewed regularly. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk is the carrying value of the Group’s financial receivables, trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents as disclosed  
in the notes.

The Group holds no collateral or other credit enhancements. The receivables’ age analysis is also evaluated on a regular basis for potential 
doubtful debts. It is management’s opinion that no further provision for doubtful debts is required.

Cash and cash equivalents are invested with banks with a credit rating of no less than A-1.4. 

Analysis of trade receivables:

30 days or less
£’000

31-60 days
£’000

61-90 days
£’000

90-180 days
£’000

>180 days
£’000

Total gross
£’000

Bad debt 
provision

£’000

Total carrying 
amount

£’000

2020 15,105 5,544 2,836 3,385 15,944 42,814 (15,944) 26,870

2019 10,435 2,889 1,606 668 5,351 20,949 (5,351) 15,598 

The Group allows an average trade receivables payment period of 30 days after invoice date. It is the Group’s policy to assess receivables  
for recoverability on an individual basis and to make provision where it is considered necessary. In assessing recoverability the Group takes into 
account any indicators of impairment up until the reporting date. The application of this policy generally results in debts between 31 and 180 
days not being provided for unless individual circumstances indicate that a debt is impaired. Receivables over 180 days are provided for  
except in circumstances where the Group has security in respect of the debt or has other arrangements which satisfy the Group that the 
debtor is in a position to pay and is intending to pay but is stopped until an event occurs (such as the grant of probate).

The Directors have considered whether there is an overall change in the economic environment which changes the expected lifetime credit 
loss on its trade debtors and consider that the existing policy does not need varying at this year end.

Trade receivables that are neither impaired nor past due are made up of 2,832 receivables’ balances (2019: 1,429). The largest individual debtor 
corresponds to 3.8% (2019: 0.7%) of the total balance. Historically these receivables have always paid balances when due. The average age  
of these receivables is 100 days (2019: 121 days). No receivables’ balances have been renegotiated during the year or in the prior year. 

The Group individually impaired no net balances (2019: £Nil). The Group does not hold any collateral over any balances.

29. INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
market interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial assets and liabilities that we use. Interest bearing assets including 
cash and cash equivalents are considered to be short-term liquid assets. Our interest rate liability risk arises primarily from borrowings issued 
at floating interest rates which exposes the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. It is the Group’s policy to settle trade payables within the 
credit terms allowed and the Group does therefore not incur interest on overdue balances. Borrowings are sourced from local financial 
markets, covering short and long-term funding. The Group manages interest rate risk on borrowings by ensuring access to diverse sources  
of funding and reducing risks of refinancing by establishing and managing borrowings in accordance with target maturity profiles. 

Interest rate exposure and sensitivity analysis:

Given the short-term nature of the Group and Company’s financial assets and liabilities no sensitivity analysis has been prepared as the impact 
on the financial statements would not be significant.

30. FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial commitment or recognised asset or liability will fluctuate due to changes  
in foreign currency rates. Foreign exchange risk arises when individual Group entities enter into transactions denominated in a currency other 
than their functional currency. 

The Group has overseas operations in Europe, Middle East and Asia and is therefore exposed to changes in the respective currencies in these 
territories. The Group maintains bank balances in each of the entities’ local currency and in other currencies as required. Cash positions are 
monitored and are converted to local currency at appropriate times, minimising the exposure to exchange fluctuations. 
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Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities which expose the Group to currency risk are disclosed below. The amounts shown 
are those reported to key management translated into GBP at the closing rate:

Functional currency of individual entity

GBP
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

EUR
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

HKD
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

Net foreign currency financial assets/(liabilities)

GBP – – (44) – (76) – 

EUR 434 328 – – (2) – 

HKD (115) (12) – – – – 

RMB 574 531 – – – – 

USD 1,901 1,088 129 – 3,254 – 

Other 11 (324) (1) – – – 

2,805 1,611 84 – 3,176 – 
RMB
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

AED
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

SGD
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

Net foreign currency financial assets/(liabilities)

GBP (1) (1) (23) – 187 – 

EUR 18 – (5) – – – 

HKD 399 – – – – – 

RMB – – – – – – 

USD 647 117 325 – 287 – 

Other 18 – (4) – (9) – 

1,081 116 293 – 465 – 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity in relating to the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities  
to a reasonably possible change in exchange rates, with all other variables held constant and no further foreign exchange risk management 
actions taken.

Change in 
rate 

Increase/(decrease)  
in income before taxation

Increase/(decrease)  
in net assets

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Appreciation against GBP of:

EUR 6% 30 21 75 – 

HKD 8% (4) (1) 137 – 

RMB 7% 41 38 (92) (20) 

USD 8% 151 86 – – 

The above sensitivity information was calculated by reference to carrying amounts of assets and liabilities at 31 March only. The effect on 
income before taxation arises in connection with monetary balances denominated in currencies other than an entity’s functional currency,  
and the effect on net assets arises principally from the translation of assets and liabilities that are not sterling functional.

The higher foreign currency exchange rate sensitivity in profit in 2020 compared to 2019 is attributable to an increase in foreign currency 
denominated balances following the acquisition of overseas entities into the Group.
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31. LIQUIDITY RISK
The Group seeks to maintain sufficient cash balances. 

Management reviews cash flow forecasts on a regular basis to determine whether the Group has sufficient cash reserves to meet  
future working capital requirements and to take advantage of business opportunities. The average creditor payment period is 113 days  
(2019: 104 days restated). 

Trade and other payables and amounts due to subsidiaries are due within 12 months; the maturity of financial liabilities is set out below.

The following table sets out the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed repayment 
periods. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
Group can be required to pay. 

Less than 3
months

£’000

Between 3 
and 12 months

£’000

Between 
1 and 2 years

£’000

Between
2 and 5 years

£’000

Total contractual
cash flows

£’000

31 March 2020

Variable interest bearing 300 951 1,200 9,200 11,651

Fixed interest rate instruments 1,061 1,458 – – 2,519

Finance leases 1,381 4,140 5,508 7,807 18,836

2,742 6,549 6,708 17,007 33,006

31 March 2019

Variable interest bearing – 900 1,200 3,900 6,000 

Fixed interest rate instruments 516 901 63 63 1,543 

Finance leases 4 13 12 – 29 

520 1,814 1,275 3,963 7,572 

Interest bearing financial liabilities carry interest at between 3 per cent and 10 per cent per annum.

The Group has also access to financing facilities of £250,000 (2019: £6,750,000) as described below. 

Unsecured bank overdraft facility (£250,000 of which £Nil was drawn down at 31 March 2020), reviewed annually and payable at call,  
and a revolving credit facility (£6,500,000 which was fully drawn down at 31 March 2020), described in note 22:

Group
2020

£’000

Group
2019

£’000

Company
2020

£’000

Company
2019

£’000

Amount used – 38 – – 

Amount unused 250 6,712 – 6,500 

250 6,750 – 6,500 

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are:

 – to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits 
for other stakeholders, and

 – to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk. 

The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in  
the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell  
assets to reduce debt. 
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The Company monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt ÷ adjusted capital.  
Net debt is calculated as total debt (as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises 
all components of equity. 

Debt to adjusted capital ratios
The debt adjusted capital ratios at 31 March 2020 were as follows:

Group
2020

£’000

Group
2019

£’000

Company
2020

£’000

Company
2019

£’000

Total debt 14,229 7,610 11,600 6,000 

Less: cash and cash equivalents (5,250) (4,759) (3) (987)

Net debt 8,979 2,851 11,597 5,013 

Total equity 51,348 31,480 47,166 44,979 

Add: subordinated debt instruments – – – – 

Adjusted capital 51,348 31,480 47,166 44,979 

Debt to adjusted capital 1:5.7  1:11.0 1:4.1  1:9.0 

33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Group
2019

£’000

Adoption
of IFRS 16

£’000

Cash
flows

£’000

Non-cash changes Group
2020

£’000
Acquisitions

£’000
Other
£’000

Borrowings 7,581 – 6,154 494 – 14,229

Lease liabilities 29 10,212 (3,268) 11,895 (32) 18,836

 7,610 10,212 2,886 12,389 (32) 33,065

34.  CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
As the Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, comparative information has not been restated and  
continues to be reported under IAS 17. The table below summarises the impact of IFRS 16 on the Group’s income statement for the year  
to 31 March 2020: 

IAS 17 IFRS 16

Rental expense
£’000

Depreciation
£’000

Interest
£’000

Property 3,705 4,563 503

Other equipment 103 100 11

Total 3,808 4,663 514

34.1 Adjustments recognised on adoption of IFRS 16
The Group adopted IFRS 16 retrospectively from 1 April 2019, but has not restated comparatives for previous reporting periods, as permitted 
under the specific transitional provisions in the standard. The reclassifications and adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are therefore 
recognised in the opening balance sheet on 1 April 2019.

The Group has lease contracts for various offices and IT equipment. Before the adoption of IFRS 16, leases were classified as either finance  
or operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to profit or loss on  
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT/Continued

Notes to the Financial Statements/Continued 
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On adoption of IFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been classified as ‘operating leases’ 
under the principles of IAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using 
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 April 2019 of 3.16%.

For leases previously classified as finance leases the Group recognised the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease liability immediately 
before transition as the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and lease liability at the date of initial application. The measurement 
principles of IFRS 16 are only applied after that date. 

2020 
£’000 

Operating lease commitments disclosed at 31 March 2019 7,402

Discounting using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application (972)

Add: finance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 March 2019 29

(Less): short-term leases recognised on a straight-line basis as expense (344)

(Less): low-value leases recognised on a straight-line basis as expense (16)

Add: adjustments as a result of a different treatment of extension and termination options 4,142

Lease liability recognised as at 1 April 2019 10,241

Of which are:

Current lease liabilities 1,865

Non-current lease liabilities 8,376

10,241

The associated right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued 
lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the balance sheet as at 31 March 2019. 

The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the balance sheet on 1 April 2019:

£’000 

Right-of-use assets 10,241

Sundry debtors (101)

Lease liabilities (10,212)

Accruals 72

Retained earnings –

In applying IFRS 16 for the first time the Group has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

 – The use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics
 – Reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous
 – The accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 April 2019 as short term
 – The exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application, and
 – The use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at the date of initial application. Instead, for contracts 
entered into before the transition date the Group relied on its assessment made applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease.
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34.2 Summary of new accounting policies
From 1 April 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the lease asset is available  
for use by the Group. 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement  
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter 
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight line basis.

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the net present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index 
or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group 
exercising the option to terminate.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the 
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased  
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is re-measured  
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment  
to purchase the underlying asset.

Extension and termination options are included in a number of the property leases across the Group. The Group determines the lease term  
as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be 
exercised, or any period covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. The Group applies 
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an option to renew or terminate a lease. Management considers all facts 
and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. After the 
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control 
and affects its ability to exercise, or not to exercise, the option to renew or terminate the contract. If a lease modification either increases the 
given lease’s scope by adding the right of use of an asset then this modification is treated as a new lease.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (with a value of less than £10,000) are recognised on a straight-line 
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. 

35. RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR YEAR
During the year, additional pre-acquisition liabilities were identified resulting in restatement of the goodwill on acquisition of Ince & Co LLP. 
There was no impact on the 2018 results from these adjustments. In this financial year following the completion of the second stage of the 
Ince acquisition, a professional valuation of the branding and trademark was obtained and a detailed review of the contractual terms was 
undertaken which resulted in the reclassification of certain liabilities and the determination (as detailed in note 2.8) of a brand value 
attributable to Ince of £17,000,000. Data on recurring business suggested that the client portfolios were less valuable than the brand  
and deemed to be valued at £4,500,000.

The affected financial statement line items for the prior period have been restated as follows:

Statement of financial position extract

Group
2019

£’000
Change

£’000

Restated
Group

2019
£’000

Intangible assets 53,198 21,245 74,443 

Trade and other receivables 35,222 (3,262) 31,960

Trade and other payables (48,669) (14,584) (63,253)

Provisions (6,736) (3,399) (10,135)

Total 33,015 – 33,015

Notes to the Financial Statements/Continued 
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The affected line items within the Notes to the Financial Statements for the prior period have been restated as follows:

Extracted from Notes to the Financial Statements

Group
2019

£’000
Change

£’000

Restated
Group

2019
£’000

Intangible assets – Goodwill 42,075 8,745 50,820 

Intangible assets – Client portfolio 9,901 (4,500) 5,401 

Intangible assets – Brand & trademarks – 17,000 17,000 

Trade receivables 17,229 (1,631) 15,598

Accrued income 5,591 (1,631) 3,960

Other payables (current) (1,344) (4,664) (6,008)

Accruals (current) (4,158) (118) (4,276)

Deferred consideration (non-current) (21,607) (9,802) (31,409)

Provisions (current) (5,523) (2,562) (8,085)

Provisions (non-current) (1,213) (837) (2,050)

Total 40,951 – 40,951 
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